097

FILED
SID J. WHITE TO
250 24 1007 19/8
SEP 24 1993

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK,	SUPRE	ME C	OURT
By	ief Depu		
Ch	ief Depu	ty Cleri	k

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant

vs.

CONFIDENTIAL

Case No. 80,327 and 80,479

ALAN E. DUBOW,

Respondent.

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON PETITION FOR REVIEW

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

Respectfully submitted by NICHOLAS R. FRIEDMAN, FRIEDMAN LAW FIRM 100 N. Biscayne Boulevard 30th floor Miami, FL 33132 (305) 358-8400

####

#### I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is a Petition for review of a Report of Referee dated

June 4, 1993, a true copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix

I. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 3-7.7, Rules

Regulating The Florida Bar.

#### II. STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

This matter arises out of a prosecution by The Florida Bar of alleged disciplinary violations. The Referee deemed all matters admitted, and no trial on the merits of the violations has been held.

A trial was held on the issue of discipline, and the Referee took testimony, heard argument of counsel, and subsequently entered a Report of Referee recommending disbarment. Appendix I. This Petition for Review appeals both the discipline and the admission of all matters by the Court, without a trial on the

merits.

As a result of the admissions in the case, the Honorable Referee did not enter any factual findings, but presumably has found all facts to be exactly as alleged in the complaints filed by The Florida Bar. The Referee's rulings of guilt were all rulings only of the conclusion that the Respondent violated Rules 4-8.4(b), Rule 4-8.4(c), Rule 4-8.4(d) and Rule 5-1.1. Appendix I.

The Referee, in recommending discipline, stated that
Respondent has two judgments outstanding against him and the
Referee stated that the Respondent has shown a pattern of
misconduct which is still ongoing because he has been fined by
the Chief Bankruptcy Judge in Tampa because he "attempted to
offer a Satisfaction of Judgment into evidence in this case which
he knew or should have known [at least by examining the Court
file] was a fraud," and because he allegedly lied to The Florida
Bar prior to being represented by the undersigned counsel. The
Court also characterized his conduct as, "check kiting on his
trust account, writing checks on four closed accounts, comingling
funds in his trust account, shortages in his trust account,
outstanding judgments against him and a refusal to make
substantial restitution." See Appendix I.

The Court did find that Respondent had no prior disciplinary convictions or disciplinary measures imposed upon him. The Court

also imposed \$13,022.91 in costs, including documents and records which were not introduced into evidence, inasmuch as there was no evidence presented on the case in chief.

The Referee found that the Respondent received respective Requests for Admission in cases number 80,327 and 80,479 on August 20, 1992 and September 17, 1992. The receipt of these documents is not disputed by the Respondent. On January 5, 1993, The Florida Bar filed a Motion for Order Deeming Matters Admitted. See Appendix II. On January 7, 1993, Respondent, representing himself filed a Reply to Motion for Order Deeming Matters Admitted. See Appendix III. At the same time, Respondent also submitted a Proposed Response to Request for Admissions.

On January 11, 1993, the Honorable Referee entered an Order on Motion for Order Deeming Matters Admitted. See Appendix IV.

On January 20, 1993, Respondent, still pro se, filed a Motion to Vacate Order Deeming Matters Admitted. See Appendix V. On February 24, 1993, the Honorable Referee denied the Respondent's Motion to Vacate Order Deeming Matters Admitted. See Appendix VI. The Bar also moved in March of 1993 to Strike the Respondent's Answer.

On March 8, 1993, the undersigned filed a Motion for Re-Hearing of Order Dated February 24, 1993. See Appendix VII. On March 15, 1993, the undersigned also filed a Motion for Leave to Withdraw Admissions and File Late Answers. See Appendix VIII.

During that time, Respondent also answered numerous other

discovery requests, provided a witness list, and otherwise was
cooperative in discovery.

All of Respondent's motions were denied by the Court and the matter proceeded to trial on discipline only. This Petition asks this Court to review the denial of all of Respondent's efforts to vacate the admissions, including but not limited to the Motion for Leave to Withdraw Admissions and File Late Answers and the authority set forth in that Motion.

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Respondent should have been given an opportunity to respond to the request for admissions. The Bar in turn should then have been forced to meet its burden of proving its case by clear and convincing evidence as opposed to having the functional equivalent of a default judgment entered. The Respondent had participated in the litigation, and unlike other Bar cases where requests for admissions were totally ignored, the Respondent below was unaware he had made an incorrect legal judgment while representing himself. There was not even a hearing on the motion. The Court never determined whether his failure to respond was willful and no prior order was ever entered seeking to compel him to respond to anything. Even after matters had

been admitted, the Motion for Leave to Withdraw Admissions and File Late Answers should have been granted. This is particularly true where someone's entire livelihood is at stake. The Bar's only real argument in opposition was that to require them to prove their case would be a burden on them. That may be true, but that is the appropriate bhurden on them.

Based upon the evidence actually adduced at the trial on discipline, the discipline of disbarment is excessive. The Bar made it clear that the only discipline they were seeking was disbarment. One element of differentiating disbarment from the discipline of suspension is whether or not the individual could ever again be rehabilitated to stand before The Bar. evidence that this particular Respondent was someone capable of being rehabilitated was uncontradicted and uncontroverted. None of The Bar's witnesses, although they were asked, stated that they could give an opinion about this issue, while the Respondent's witnesses were clear and convincing in their evidence that Respondent could be rehabilitated in the future, even based on the finding of guilt that was already in the record. Moreover, the determination of aggravating factors does not appear to be based on competent substantial evidence adduced before the Referee, but rather to be based solely upon the argument of opposing counsel, which is not evidence.

It is requested that the matter be remanded for trial on the

merits and alternatively that the disciplinary finding be vacated and that a lesser discipline be substituted.

THE REFEREE ERRED IN DEEMING ALL MATTERS ADMITTED, WITHOUT A HEARING, AND THEN FAILING TO SUBSEQUENTLY ALLOW RESPONDENT TO WITHDRAW THE ADMISSIONS AND THEN FILE LATE ANSWERS

The Referee below granted an Order on January 11, 1993 (Appendix IV) which "found no response to the Complainant's request for admissions." There was no hearing held on the motion. In fact, on January 7, 1993, the Respondent had served a Reply, which should have at least have entitled him to a hearing on the matter. In a Motion for Rehearing which was filed with the Court, the undersigned pointed out that this case was distinguished from The Florida Bar v. Solomon, 589 So.2d 286 (Fla. 1991), because Mr. Solomon never responded to admissions in any way. Solomon, supra at 287. The Fifth District Court of Appeals in <u>Durrance v. Thompson</u>, 486 So.2d 711 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) reversed a judgment on the pleadings where an unrepresented defendant (like Respondent below) was changing lawyers and a technical admission would have precluded the case being heard on its evidentiary merits. Also see Melody Tours, Inc. v. Granville Market, Inc., 413 So.2d 450, 451 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) where admissions were 77 days late.

The error could be considered harmless even where no motion was filed. Pelkey v. Commandeer Motel Corp., 510 So.2d 965, 966

(Fla. 4th DCA 1987) even on an ore tenus motion summary judgment has been reversed and the matter remanded to the trial court for further proceedings where the error was reasonable diary error.

Sterling v. City of West Palm Beach, 595 So.2d 284, 285 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

The Respondent properly moved for leave to withdraw admissions and file late answers (Appendix VIII) and pointed out that Rule 1.370(b) provides a liberal standard for this Court to grant the relief sought. The burden should have been on The Florida Bar to satisfy the Court that the withdrawal would prejudice The Bar "in maintaining [its] actions or defenses on the merits" R.C.P. 1.370(b).

Having to prepare a trial on the merits is not the type of prejudice which [The Bar] can raise to combat [the Respondent's] Motion for Leave to File Late Answers because preparing for trial on the merits was [The Bar's] burden from the beginning. <u>Durrance</u>, supra at page 712.

The Bar never did present any evidence that it would suffer prejudice in the actual presentation of its case, resulted from the withdrawal of the technical admissions. In <u>Pelkey</u>, supra, technical admissions filed four days late were permitted to be withdrawn, since no prejudice was shown. In <u>Melody Tours</u>, supra, admissions 77 days late were likewise permitted to be withdrawn. More recently, the Fourth District Court of Appeals held that withdrawal of technical admissions should be permitted and not

used to obtain through a technicality a way to preclude adjudication of legitimate disputes. Sterling v. City of West Palm Beach, 595 So.2d 284, 285 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

Simply put, the Respondent was under a mistaken impression of the procedures followed in disciplinary matters. When he became aware that he maybe wrong, he immediately took corrective action, and filed a pleading. (Appendix III). The Referee, from the clear language of its Order did not believe that any response had been filed. (Appendix IV). No hearing was ever held, and an ex parte Order was signed deeming all matters admitted.

Despite diligent and reasonable effort, fully complying with an established body of case law, the Referee did not vacate the admissions or allow them to be withdrawn. The Referee by its Order precluded the presentation of any testimony on the merits and thereby also deeply prejudiced the Respondent in his flexibility in presenting evidence on the only open issue, discipline.

There is no other case like this one in the annals of The Florida Bar, where an attorney had been participating in the proceedings, had filed pleadings, made one mistake and was technically defaulted.

The undersigned is aware that this Court has never granted the status of a vested right to an attorney's license to practice law. Nonetheless, the license is an extremely important matter

to the attorney, and in this case constituted the attorney's sole livelihood. (Transcript page 161, lines 21-23).

Not only was Respondent never previously subject of a motion to compel, but even if the Court had felt that his conduct was willful, much more reasonable sanctions could have been imposed other than what amounted to a judgment on the pleadings. We respectfully and strongly urge the Court to adhere to the established line of case law which states that persons who have unintentionally admitted matters should be allowed to withdraw their admissions and file late answers, where to do otherwise would be to prejudice them most severely. This is especially true where the other side has never demonstrated that it would suffer any recognized prejudice.

# THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF DISBARMENT WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE, WHEREAS COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTED A FINDING OTHER THAN DISBARMENT

The only hearing conducted in this matter was on discipline. Therefore, all references to a transcript hearing are references to the transcript in the trial on the disciplinary proceeding which occurred on the 10th day of May, 1993. The bar began the proceedings by initially attempting to shift the burden to the Respondent, because he had already been found guilty through the Order Deeming Matters Admitted. (Transcript page 8, Lines 4-10). The Bar stated that it "would put on" some aggravating evidence.

(Transcript page 10, Lines 2-7). The Report of Referee (Appendix I) does not correctly summarize the proceedings that occurred before the Referee. The Report states at page 2 that the hearing on discipline occurred on May 19, 1993, and shows that it was the last matter heard by the Court. This is incorrect. The hearing on discipline occurred on May 10, 1993, and on May 20, a subsequent proceeding was held before the Referee on The Bar's Motion to Reopen Final Hearing as to Appropriate Discipline. (Appendix IX). The matter at issue dealt with an Exhibit which was initially attempted to be put into evidence by the undersigned for Respondent, to which The Bar objected, and which was then deemed inadmissible and not seen by the Court. Canova v. Florida National Bank of Jacksonville, 60 So.2d 627, 628-629 (Fla. 1952). The transcript of the hearing of May 20, 1993 was concluded without the admission of the document and the evidence was not ever reopened. Nonetheless, at the Referee Report (Appendix I), the Court specifically found that the Respondent "knew or should have known" that the document was a fraud. the document as in Canova, supra, was never put into evidence, assertions about the document in the findings of fact are not supported by competent substantial evidence.

The Bar specifically questioned each of its own witnesses as to whether or not Respondent was someone who could be rehabilitated. In response to The Bar's own questions, its own

witnesses did not give an opinion. See testimony of James C. Evans (Transcript page 38, lines 4-10); Testimony of Richard L. Allen (Transcript page 54, line 5 through page 55, line 1-4). Similarly, The Bar's witness Norman Roberts also proffered no opinion. (Transcript page 121, lines 9-10). In contrast, all of the witnesses called by The Bar were absolutely unrebutted and uncontradicted as to these matters. Andrew Sapiro testified that the Respondent was someone who can be rehabilitated and practice in the future. (Transcript page 27, lines 7-19). Jay Fusco testified that Respondent was someone who could be rehabilitated. (Transcript page 82, lines 23-25). Scott McPherson, a former state legislator (Transcript page 87, lines 2-3) testified that he would hire the Respondent in the future. (Transcript page 92, lines 18-22), as did former client Eugene Plugues (Transcript page 104, lines 10-11). John W. Pursse testified that the Respondent could be rehabilitated in the future and should in fact have the opportunity to do so. (Transcript page 109, lines 12-24).

The only evidence offered by The Florida Bar at the hearing on discipline, other than the argument of counsel, was tainted by the fact that the Referee at first indicated that she would exclude settlement negotiations of civil suits, and then went into those settlement facts in any event. (Transcript page 32, line 6-25). In reviewing this tainted testimony, the Court then

acted on the impressions of lawyers from individual instances, where they were opposing party, notwithstanding a proper objection that The Bar did not present proper testimony of reputation, but rather individual animosity. (Transcript page 38 and page 39, lines 3-5; page 41, lines 10-12; page 52, lines 10-12; page 53, lines 1-9). Likewise, The Bar actually sometimes attempted to create aggravating testimony against the Respondent, notwithstanding the fact that another person, not Respondent made representations that an opposing lawyer disagreed with or found to be incorrect. (Transcript page 119, lines 12-19; page 121, lines 4-8).

By contrast, the competent substantial evidence adduced by the Respondent from numerous witnesses was that Respondent is an individual of high repute (Transcript page 82, lines 1-5) was a truthful and honest individual. (Transcript page 90, lines 2-4). His reputation was deemed to be one that was above reproach. (Transcript page 100, lines 23-25; page 101, line 1). A former client testified that the Respondent had a good general reputation. (Transcript page 103, lines 13-19) and contrary to the finding of the Referee that having been fined by a bankruptcy judge constituted aggravating evidence, an attorney from the community in which that occurred testified that notwithstanding the fine by the judge, the Respondent enjoyed a good reputation. (Transcript page 108, lines 6-10). The severity of the

discipline is also grossly out of proportion to other disciplines, considering that The Bar's own staff auditor admitted that the "trust violations" consisted of temporary shortages in 1987, nearly seven years ago, of \$503.00 and \$2,955.61, both of which had long ago been made good. (Transcript at page 62). In fact, The Bar's auditor admitted that other attorneys have been missing \$600,000.00 or \$700,000.00 and were never even prosecuted. (Transcript page 66, lines 21 through 24; page 67, lines 2-4; page 70 and page 72, lines 2-10). Since they allegedly were relying on a third person. interesting that in the case of Respondent, The Florida Bar and the Referee pointed out an aggravating factor was that the Respondent was liable on judgments, as a result of apparent thefts by a third person, just as the unprosecuted lawyers were responsible for the theft of much more substantial sums by a third person. The Referee's ruling on admissions effectively prevented Respondent from presenting facts to show he was duped by others.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

The Referee below erred in failing to allow the Respondent to withdraw admissions and to file late answers. Accordingly, the matter should be remanded to the Court below with instructions to permit the admissions to be withdrawn, late answers to be filed, and for the Referee to proceed to a trial on

the merits. This would render the issue of discipline moot.

Alternatively, if the Court does not permit the withdrawing of admissions and the filing of late answers, then based on the competent substantial evidence, the discipline should be less than disbarment.