017

FILED	
SID 1 WHITE /// 2)
CLERK, SUPREME COURTE	i
Chief Deputy Clerk	į

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

ALAN E. DUBOW,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 80,327 and 80,479

On Petition for Review

Answer Brief of Complainant

RANDI KLAYMAN LAZARUS Bar Counsel TFB # 360929 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Respondent argues two points of appeal in his Initial Brief. The first of these arguments is that the Referee erred in deeming all matters admitted, without a hearing, and then failing to subsequently allow Respondent to withdraw the admissions and then file late answers. The second argument contends that the Referee's recommendation of disbarment was not supported by competent substantial evidence, whereas competent substantial evidence supported a finding other than disbarment.

The Florida Bar, in its answer brief will prove both of the above arguments to be without merit. This will be accomplished by following a simple series of facts. Due to the Respondent's deliberate failure to respond to The Florida Bar's Request for Admissions, the facts were deemed admitted, as provided for by the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 1.370(a) and by case law. Subsequent to the facts being admitted, clearly the commission of violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct was prevalent on behalf of the Respondent. Finally, subsequent to the determination of guilt, appropriate disciplinary measures were imposed by the Referee.

POINTS ON APPEAL

I

WHETHER THE REFEREE ERRED IN DEEMING ALL MATTERS ADMITTED, WITHOUT A HEARING AND THEN REFUSING TO SUBSEQUENTLY ALLOW RESPONDENT TO WITHDRAW THE ADMISSIONS AND THEN FILE LATE ANSWERS? (RESTATED)

II

WHETHER THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF DISBARMENT WAS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE? (RESTATED)

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE REFEREE DID NOT ERR IN DEEMING ALL MATTERS ADMITTED. WITHOUT HEARING AND THEN REFUSING RESPONDENT TO SUBSECUENTLY ALLOW WITHDRAW THE ADMISSIONS AND THEN FILE LATE ANSWERS. (RESTATED)

The Respondent, in his Initial Brief, argues that the Referee erred in deeming all matters admitted, without a hearing, and then refusing to subsequently allow Respondent to withdraw the admissions and then file late answers. The Respondent cites to cases in his brief that show failure to respond to Request for Admissions was due to inadvertence, excusable neglect or late filing. In the case at bar, the Respondent's counsel has attempted to draw a similar parallel by stating, in reference to the Respondent's failure to respond to the Request, that "[t]he gentleman recognized that for whatever reason he had made an oversight...he misunderstood...[h]e thought the Rules of Civil Procedure did not apply. He got bad information or whatever. But it never was...that he intended intentionally not to comply with the duty before the court." (TR2 p.7-8)

The Respondent also attempted to claim excusable neglect for not having filed the Response. The Respondent states that "[e]ssentially, I think there is excusable neglect on my part." (TR1 p.21) In fact, when the Referee indicated that nothing in the file or in the Respondent's Motion to Vacate Order Deeming Matters Admitted made reference to excusable neglect, the Respondent was unable to identify why his deliberate refusal to respond would constitute excusable neglect. (TR1 p.28)

The Respondent's deliberate refusal to respond is clearly evidenced in the Respondent's Reply to Motion for Order Deeming Matters Admitted. The Respondent states that he "has consulted local counsel who...did advise the undersigned that Complainant was not entitled to take discovery of this type from the Respondent, due to the prosecutorial nature of this proceeding. Respondent relied on said advice in not...responding to the Request for Admissions." (A3)

None of the Respondent's defenses are viable reasons for the admissions not to be deemed admitted as provided by Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure and case law.

Rule 3-4.1 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar mandates that "[e]very member of The Florida Bar...is charged with notice and held to know the provisions of this rule and the standards of ethical and professional conduct prescribed by the court." As a result, all other rules are known or should be known by the Respondent. Therefore, the Respondent's defense that he was not aware or was misinformed that the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure applied in Florida Bar proceedings is not a valid defense.

Rule 3-7.6(e)(2) of The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar provides that "[d]iscovery shall be available to the parties in accordance with the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure." Accordingly, Rule 1.370(a) of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a "party may serve upon any other party a written request for the admission of any matters within the scope of rule 1.280(b)..." The rule further sets forth that:

[t]he matter is admitted unless the party to whom the request is directed serves upon the party requesting the admission a written answer or objection addressed to the matter within 30 days after service of the request or such shorter or longer time as the court may allow but, unless the court shortens the time, a defendant shall not be required to serve answers or objections before the expiration of 45 days after service of the process and initial pleading upon the defendant.

Rule 1.370 of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedures

The Florida Bar filed two separate complaints and Request for Admissions, on August 20, 1992 and on September 17, 1992. Responses to the Requests for Admissions were due on October 5, 1992 and November 2, 1992, respectively. The Florida Bar received no responses. In fact, the Referee made specific reference to the fact that the Respondent did not respond to the Requests by saying that "if it was that significant, I can't understand why you didn't The only time you responded was when they [The Florida Bar] sent an order, a motion asking that I deem them [the Requests] Further, the Referee reminded the admitted." (TR1 p.27) Respondent that " [a]t no time before that [the filing of the motion by The Florida Bar | did you even notify the Court when you got the admissions that you weren't going to answer them or could there be a hearing on whether the Rules of Civil Procedure apply or whether discovery applies." (TR1 p.27)

After waiting additional time for the Respondent to file his response, The Florida Bar filed a Motion to Deem the Matters Admitted. It was not until January 12, 1993, after this Motion was received and an order granted deeming the matters admitted, that

the Respondent filed a response to the Motion along with responses to the Request, but still maintaining that The Florida Bar was not entitled to such discovery.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Solomon</u>, 589 So. 2d 286 (Fla. 1991), this Court found that "[w]hen there is no answer to Bar's request for admissions, referee may correctly deem matters alleged admitted." Other courts have followed suit. Specifically, in <u>Granville v. Capital Bank</u>, 456 So. 2d 960, 961 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984), the court held that the "[t]rial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to allow filing of responses to bank's request for admissions to be tendered several months late and after order had been entered ruling that requests were admitted." Similarly, in the instant case, the Referee did not abuse her discretion in denying a late response to be tendered after an order had already been issued deeming the matters admitted.

In a recent case, the Supreme Court dictated that The Florida Bar had perfected service by mailing requests for admissions to the respondent's record Bar address by certified mail. When the respondent failed to respond to the request, the matters were deemed admitted and based on those admissions, the referee was able to render an adjudication of guilt against the respondent. See The Florida Bar v. Daniel, 18 FLW s517 (Fla. 1993).

v. Commander Motel Corp., 510 So. 2d 965 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) is cited as saying that the error (of not responding to Request) could be considered harmless even where no motion was filed. It is interesting to note that the very appellate court that rendered

this opinion distinguishes its own opinion. In <u>Singer v. Nationwide</u>

<u>Mutual Fire Insurance Co.</u>, 512 So. 2d 1125, 1126-27 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), the Court stated that:

[w]e recognize that we held in <u>Pelkey</u> [<u>supra</u>], that the absence of a motion under Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.370(b) does not preclude the trial court from granting relief from admissions resulting from the failure to timely respond to the request for admissions. However, that holding was based on a different set of facts where belated responses were filed within the time fixed by the rule, but four days late according to the shortened time provided by court order...

In the instant case, no responses were ever filed, and Singer did not even file the affidavit until after Nationwide <u>had relied on the admitted responses...and had filed its motion for summary judgment</u>. (Emphasis added.)

It is clear that the Respondent in the instant case has acted just as Singer did in the above case. The Respondent took no action regarding the Request until The Florida Bar had motioned for the matters to be deemed admitted. Had The Florida Bar never filed the motion, the Respondent, by his own admission, would not have responded. In fact, The Florida Bar was not required to file the motion as the matters are automatically admitted after the 45 day response time.

Simply said, the Respondent, having been given due process, neither through his motions nor through his brief, cannot and should not be granted relief for not having filed a response to the Request. The Respondent's deliberate refusal to answer the Request since he believed he was not subject to the rules is a flagrant disregard for The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure.

ARGUMENT

ΙI

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF DISBARMENT WAS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE. (RESTATED)

The Respondent argues in his brief that the Referee's recommendation of disbarment was not supported by competent substantial evidence, whereas competent substantial evidence supported a finding other than disbarment.

Is the Respondent asking the Court to find that introducing false evidence before the Referee is competent substantial evidence worthy of discipline less than disbarment? Is the Respondent also asking the Court to find that a pattern of misconduct including check-kiting, lying to The Florida Bar, commingling funds in a trust account, shortages in a trust account and outstanding judgments with a refusal to make any substantial restitution constitutes competent substantial evidence worthy of discipline less than disbarment? Further, is the Respondent expecting the Court to find that a flagrant disregard of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure presents competent substantial evidence worthy of discipline less than disbarment? The case law and Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions would not and should not cause that conclusion.

The Respondent additionally attempts to present testimony of character witnesses in an attempt to show his fitness to practice law and to mitigate the discipline. This is yet another defense that does not work for the Respondent. For example, the Respondent, in his brief, eludes to the testimony of Mr. Jay Fusco

who testified that the Respondent was a person of high repute within the Bankruptcy community. The Respondent contends that Jay Fusco's testimony is competent substantial evidence. Can this be competent substantial evidence given the fact that the witness rendered this opinion without prior knowledge of a November 4, 1992 order from Bankruptcy Judge Paskay which fined the Respondent as a result of a misrepresentation to the Court? (TR3 p. 81-84)

The Respondent continues in his brief by referring to the testimony of John W. Persse who testified that the Respondent enjoyed a good reputation. Again, this opinion was formed prior to knowledge of the November 4, 1992 order. (TR3 p. 106-110)

The Florida Bar, on the other hand, did present competent substantial evidence to warrant disbarment as the effect of the admissions entered, the violations incurred and aggravating factors presented. Additionally, case law and the Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provide for disbarment as a result of the Respondent's actions.

The Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provides under Standard 9.22, the factors to be considered in aggravation when imposing discipline. These factors include a pattern of misconduct, multiple offenses, submission of false evidence, false statements or other deceptive practices during the disciplinary process and an indifference to making restitution.

The Florida Bar presented all of the above factors as aggravating factors of the Respondent's actions during the hearing on discipline. The Florida Bar indicated a practice on the Respondent's part of being dishonest as he was dishonest to the

Bar, dishonest to the bank, dishonest to the quarantor and dishonest to the Bankruptcy Court. (TR3 p. 166-175) Moreover, the Respondent has made no substantial attempt to make restitution and in fact attempted to provide false evidence of a satisfaction of judgment as proof of restitution. (TR4 p. 3-4) To accomplish this, the Respondent proffered a satisfaction of judgment claimed to be prepared by a John Fernandez. Although the Respondent attempted to have this document admitted into evidence, the Referee did not allow it because it was not a certified copy. (TR3 p. 152-153) The Florida Bar then discovered that in fact the satisfaction was not authentic and Respondent's counsel went so far as to say "I am also dubious about the validity of it." (TR4 p. 7-8) The Respondent's counsel went on to further declare that "there probably [is] no valid satisfaction." (TR4 p. 21) This statement is clearly a direct contradiction to the Respondent's previous contention that the judgment was satisfied. The Respondent also falsely notarized a document which he knew or should have known to be a false document.

Although The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions does not cite failure to respond to request for admissions as an aggravating factor, it is still an offense within the purview of the courts and therefore can be placed under the category of multiple offenses within the aggravating factors. See The Florida Bar v. Baron, 408 So. 2d 1050, 1051 (Fla. 1982).

Standard 4.11 mandates that "[d]isbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury." Further, Standard

5.11(b) provides that disbarment is appropriate when "a lawyer engages in serious criminal conduct, a necessary element of which includes intentional interference with the administration of justice, false swearing, misrepresentation, fraud, extortion, misappropriation or theft." Finally, Standard 6.11 provides that "[d]isbarment is appropriate when a lawyer: (a) with the intent to deceive the court, knowingly makes a false statement, or submits a false document...and...causes a significant or potentially significant adverse effect on the legal proceeding."

The Florida Bar v. Solomon, 589 So. 2d 286 (Fla. 1991) provides that "[i]ssuing worthless check constitutes unethical conduct and results in professional discipline...[and] misuse of client funds, commingling, and check kiting can warrant disbarment." The Court also held that "[w]here there is no answer to Bar's request for admissions, referee may correctly deem matters admitted."

Clearly, the courts believe that actions such as the Respondent's justify disbarment. In The-Florida Bar v. DeSerio, 529 So. 2d 1117 (Fla. 1988), the Court found that "[f]ailure to keep proper trust account records, improper commingling of funds in trust account, and improper withdrawal of funds from trust account warrants disbarment." In yet another case, "[m]isappropriation of funds and misrepresentations to bar warrant disbarment..." See The Florida Bar v. Graham, 605 So. 2d 53 (Fla. 1992). Also, "[c]umulative nature of misconduct involving inability to account for funds given by clients warrants disbarment without opportunity to apply for readmission for four years. See The Florida Bar v. Hunt, 441 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 1983). Disbarment is clearly warranted.

CONCLUSION

The violations committed by the Respondent are grave and warrant the most stringent discipline allowed. The Respondent knowingly and willingly participated in check kiting, commingling of funds, unaccounted for shortages in trust account, misrepresentations to the Florida Bar, misrepresentations to a referee, failure to respond to The Florida Bar's Request for Admissions, and failure to make restitution.

The Respondent was afforded due process during the disciplinary proceeding and by his own failure to take advantage of such, had matters deemed admitted where he had proffered no response. The Referee did not err in having these matters admitted. The Respondent erred in not responding to the Request.

The discipline recommended by the Referee is fair and appropriate in light of the violations committed by the Respondent and the aggravating factors connected to the Respondent's conduct.

RANDI KLAYMAN LAZARUS

Bar Counsel
TFB #360929
The Florida Bar
444 Brickell Avenue
Suite M-100
Miami, Florida 33131
Tel: (305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300

Tel: (904) 561-5600

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 Tel: (904) 561-5600